IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,179

BOB MARTINEZ, et al.,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

vs.

MARK SCANLAN, et al.,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL JUDGMENT OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA, CERTIFIED BY THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT, AS BEING OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ASSOCIATED INDUSTRIES OF FLORIDA

MARY ANN STILES RAYFORD H. TAYLOR STILES & TAYLOR, P.A. 108 E. Jefferson Street One Capitol Place, Suite B Tallahassee, Florida 32301 Telephone: (904) 222-2229

Attorneys for Associated Industries of Florida

Fla. Bar Nos.: 258008 and 184768

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

For purposes of this brief, the Plaintiffs/Appellees/Cross-Appellants will be referred to as Plaintiffs; Defendants/Appellants/Cross-Appellees will be referred to as Defendants; Intervenor/Appellant/Cross-Appellee Associated Industries of Florida will be referred to as AIF; Intervenor/Appellant/Cross-Appellee Florida Chamber of Commerce will be referred to as the Chamber; Intervenors/Appellants/Cross-Appellees National Council on Compensation Insurance and Employers Insurance of Wausau shall be referred to collectively as NCCI; Intervenor/Cross-Appellee Tampa Bay Area NFL, Inc. (the Bucs) and South Florida Sports Corporation (the Dolphins) shall be referred to as the Bucs and Dolphins. The Florida Construction, Commerce and Industry Self-Insurers Fund (FCCI); the Florida Association of Self-Insurers (FASI); the Florida Group Risk Administrators Association, Inc. (GRA); the American Insurance Association (AIA); and the Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers (AFTL) shall be referred to as Amici collectively or individually as FCCI, FASI, GRA, AIA, and AFTL.

AIF adopts the brief and the positions of Defendants/Appellant/Cross-Appellees. Additionally, to avoid duplicity of <u>some</u> of the arguments; AIF adopts the brief of Amici FCCI, et. al., and that of NCCI pertaining to the issue of the retroactive application of Senate Bill 8-B (1991), and House Bills 9-B (1991) and 11-B (1991), and the mootness issue. AIF does not adopt the argument of NCCI addressing NCCI's cross claim, i.e. NCCI's Issue III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This brief is filed on behalf of Associated Industries of Florida ("AIF"). AIF is a business trade association representing over 6,000 Florida businesses who employ nearly 60 percent of Florida's private sector work force. AIF appeared in the trial below as Defendant/Intervenor and concurred in the positions taken by the Defendants in support of Chapter 90-201, Laws of Florida. AIF actively participated in the enactment of Chapter 90-201, Laws of Florida, the trial of the case, and in the enactment of Senate Bill 8-B and House Bills 9-B and 11-B.

AIF adopts the Statement of the Case and the Facts of the Department of Legal Affairs, representing Tom Gallagher as Secretary of the Department of Insurance, Hugh Menendez as Secretary of the Florida Department of Labor, Bob Martinez (as Governor of Florida) and Gerald Lewis as Comptroller of Florida ("Defendants").

References to the Record on Appeal shall be noted as (R ___). References to the Appellant's Joint Appendix shall be noted as (A-__).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 440.15(3)(b) 4e, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1990) does not constitute an impermissible burden upon an injured employee seeking to obtain wage loss benefits because it requires an injured employee to demonstrate the inability to obtain employment is doe to the physical limitations imposed by the injury, rather than economic conditions or the injured employee's misconduct.

Section 440.15(2)(i) 3a, b, and c, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1990) does not violate either the due process clause of Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution (1968) or the access to courts provision of Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution (1968). This provision does not violate an employee's due process rights because the statute contains a provision for a hearing to determine if the physician's opinion should be adopted by the Judge of Compensation Claims. The requirement of rebutting the physician's opinion by clear and convincing evidence does not create an access to courts violation because the employee's remedy is not completely abolished but is merely restricted, which is constitutionally permissible under the rationale of Kluger v. White.

Section 440.15(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1990) does not violate the access to courts provision of Article I, Section 21, of the Florida Constitution (1968) because it requires an employee to establish the inability to perform even light duty work within a 100-mile radius of the employee's residence before being able to receive permanent total disability benefits. The statute's requirement is rationally related to the state's objective of requiring an injured employee to relate the inability to work to the injury and since the employee receives other benefits as provided by the Act, the provision does not violate the access to courts

requirements of the Florida Constitution set forth in Kluger v. White.

ARGUMENT

I.

The Judge erred in ruling that certain language set forth in Section 20 of the Act is constitutionally offensive in light of the Regency Inn and City of Clermont decisions.

The language in Section 20 Chapter 90.201, Laws of Florida (the Act), creating section 440.15 (3)(b)4e, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1990) that Judge Hall in his ruling found "constitutionally offensive" provides:

In the case of an employee whose permanent impairment from the injury is at least 1 per cent but no more than 20 per cent of the body as a whole, the burden is on the employee to demonstrate that his post-injury earning capacity is less that his preinjury average weekly wage and is not the result of economic conditions or the unavailability of employment or of his own misconduct. In the case of an employee whose permanent impairment from the injury is 21 per cent or more of the body as a whole, the burden is on the employer to demonstrate that the employee's post-injury earning capacity is the same or more than his preinjury wage.

Judge Hall ruled this language "constitutionally offensive" because he believed the First District Court of Appeal had on at least two occasions previously observed that the above language was a constitutionally imperiled provision. (R 2695-2696).

Contrary to Judge Hall's ruling, the First District did not decide in <u>Regency Inn v.</u>

<u>Johnson</u>, 422 So.2d 870 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) any provision as to the issue of an employee's inability to obtain employment due to economic conditions only. <u>City of Clermont v.</u>

Rumph, 450 So.2d 573 (Fla 1st DCA 1984), was the only case in which this issue of economic conditions was addressed.

The First District in <u>Regency Inn</u> overturned three years of its own rulings without any legislative changes to the wage loss law that passed the 1979 Legislature. Until <u>Regency Inn</u>, law was that the employee had to prove that the disablity, rather than the fact work was unavailable, was the cause of the inability to work before being eligible to collect wage loss benefits. <u>Lake County Commissioners v. Walburn</u>, 409 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

Other rulings by the First District on the 1979 wage loss concept also supported its original thinking under <u>Lake County</u>. The First District in <u>Bob's Barricades</u>, <u>Inc. v. Catalano</u>, 414 So.2d 580 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) reversed a deputy commissioner's findings of wage loss benefits. An employee had worked for almost a year after a compensable injury. He was then fired. The employee argued he was fired because of his claim for workers' compensation benefits. The employer argued the employee was fired because of his attitude. The First District correctly held that there was no competent substantial evidence that the claimed wage loss was the result of the compensable injury.

However, in June of 1982, the First District in Regency Inn took a complete about face and adopted the dissenting opinion in Lake County Commissioners v. Walburn, 409 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). The dissenting opinion in Lake County basically stated that the prior decisions where a claimant's job was no longer available and there was no medical evidence that he was unable to work and where the claimant must first seek work in order to establish temporary total disability, "forced a claimant to prove that his work search was unsuccessful due to his disability, rather than because of the unavailability of work and such

a ruling could place a well nigh impossible burden on an injured claimant."

The Regency Inn decision and the overturning of the First District's own decisions over a three year period sounded the death knell of wage loss as envisioned by the drafters of the 1979 statute. No longer was the fact that an employee could not work because of economic conditions unrelated to the physical limitation taken into consideration. Now all one had to do was get a physician to state that there was an impairment, e.g.; wage loss was due. This became true even if the employee could still perform his old job, but refused to do so. See Wilbanks v. Cianbro Corp., 512 So.2d 300 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). Being laid off for economic reasons does not automatically negate this connection between wage loss and the industrial accident. Oxford Building Service v. Allen, 498 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), and Nicholson v. Sammons Enterprises, Inc., 457 So.2d 513 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

Under the old scheduled injury system that was replaced by wage loss, an injured person who suffered a ten percent disability (wage earning capacity) due to an injury to an arm, was entitled to ten percent of 200 weeks or 20 weeks. Section 440.15 (3), Fla. Stat. (1978).

After Regency Inn, if the employee suffered a five percent permanent impairment in accordance with the AMA Guides (not wage earning capacity), lost his job for any reason and turned in forms for six months all at one time, he was now entitled to benefits for 525 weeks as long as he continued to send forms showing proper job searches. Without these job search forms, verification of a claimant's job search activities cannot possibly be verified.

Western Electric Co. v. Jackson, 450 So.2d 282 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Whitehall Corp. v.

Davis, 448 So.2d 47 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984)(without job search forms, the employee cannot

even identify where he looked for work). Gone is the protection that it was the five percent impairment to the arm that kept the employee off work. Now the employee can play the job search game, collect benefits for several months, and then settle the case (89 percent of all wage loss cases settle.). (A-16 p. 55). This was the system that was to replace the old system (20 weeks versus settlement, plus several months of benefits prior to settlement) and save money.

The First District never took into account after <u>Regency Inn</u> that the 1979 statute took away "wage earning capacity" and replaced that concept with "actual lost wages" due to injury. Introducing wage earning capacity to the wage loss system guaranteed an expensive system. The court has incorrectly focused on job searches rather than whether the injured worker could do his job as a result of physical restrictions.

The First District in support of **Regency Inn** stated:

We believe that the reasoning and authorities set forth in the dissenting opinion in Lake County Commissioners v. Walburn, 409 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), are dispositive of the issue presented in this case. We also note that the statutory language on wage-loss, supra, stands in contrast to that which governs a claimant's burden in establishing permanent total disability, i.e., 'the burden shall be upon the employee to establish that he is not able uninterruptedly to ... work due to physical limitations,' and no compensation of that character shall be payable 'if the employee . . . is physically capable of ... gainful employment'. s.440.15(1)(b), Florida Statutes. Since the LeHigh rule would effectively limit compensable wage-loss to that which results from physical incapacity (as opposed to economic incapacity caused by job disruption accompanying industrial injury), the application of that rule to wage-loss would disregard the apparent intent of the legislative standards on causal relation which are framed so distinctly for the two classes of For wage-loss the statute provides simply for general causal relation by covering any such loss which 'is the result of the . . . injury.' If the intent had been to require wage-loss from physical incapacity for work (independent of job availability) as an absolute condition to compensation for wage-loss, the alternative language would surely have been used. definition of disability in the act also utilizes a general causal relation concept by referring simply to 'incapacity because of the injury to earn . . . and not to incapacity from physical limitations of the injury. Certainly nothing in the statutory framework for wage-loss awards evinces an intent to abandon that element of the well settled standard for capacity to earn which takes into account 'inability to obtain work of a type which claimant can perform in light of his afterinjury condition ' Walker v. Electronic Products & Engineering Co., 248 So.2d 161, 163 (Fla. 1971).

We find, accordingly, that the rule stated in LeHigh and its progeny should not govern the evaluation of work search standards for wage-loss, and the award by the deputy in this case is therefore affirmed.

The court inappropriately compared permanent total disability to actual wage loss. An immediate response by the 1983 Legislature to correct that flaw was to draft language to correct the points made by the court and to overturn the **Regency Inn** case. The language adopted to Section 440.15(3)(b), Fla. Stat. (1983) was:

- (3) PERMANENT IMPAIRMENT AND WAGE LOSS BENEFITS -
- (b) Wage loss benefits -
- 2. The amount determined to be the salary,

wages, and other remunerations the employee is able to earn after reaching the date of maximum medical improvement shall in no case be less than a sum actually being earned by the employee, including earnings from sheltered employments. In the event the employee voluntarily limits his fails to accept employment income or commensurate with his abilities, the salary, wage, and other remunerations the employee is able to earn after the date of maximum medical improvement shall be deemed to be the amount which would have been earned if the employee did not limit his income or accepted appropriate employment. Whenever a wage-loss benefit as set forth in subparagraph 1. may be payable, the burden shall be on the employee to establish that nay wage-loss claimed is the result of the compensable injury. It shall also be the burden of the employee to show that his inability to obtain employment or to earn as much as he earned at the time of his industrial accident, is due to physical limitations related to his accident and not because of economic condition or the unavailability of employment.

In other words, if the injury did not interfere with an employee's ability to find work, no benefits were due. Rather, the First District incorrectly assumed that if there was an impairment, it must be the reason one could not find work. A plain reading of the statutory language above is clear that if economic conditions or work restrictions are the reason one cannolt work, then no benefits are due.

The First District in <u>City of Clermont v. Rumph</u> addressed the provision passed by the 1983 Legislature and stated that if it were to uphold the language of the statute it would seriously imperil the statute's constitutionality. The First District cited its holding in the **Regency Inn** case and stated that:

the court further observed that such an approach would have the effect of withholding wage loss benefits in times of economic depression thereby . . . depriving those workers' compensation claimants of a remedy for work related injuries and seriously affecting, in our judgment, the rational balancing of the rights and interests of both employers and employees which is necessary to give validity to the wage-loss concept

As **Regency Inn** thus indicates in the present case employer/carrier suggested construction of the 1983 amendment to Section 440.15 (3)(b) would seriously impel the constitutional validity to workers' compensation law. We are not obliged to construe statutory pronouncements in such a manner so as to effectuate their constitutionality. See Miami Dolphins, Limited v. Metropolitan **Dade County** 394 So.2d 981 (Fla. 1981). We are also obliged to adopt the statutory construction which is most favorable to the employee. See Curse v. Coca-Cola Foods Division, 389 So.2d 1177 (Fla. 1980). We therefore decline to adopt employer/carrier's suggested construction of the 1983 amendment to Section 440.15(3)(b)2. We can construe the amendment, instead, as precluding an award of wage loss benefits when predicated solely on economic considerations unrelated to the claimant's physical limitations by ordinary approximate call standards. We further read the amendment as emphasizing the requirement that claimant shall present evidence that the compensable physical limitation is a contributing causative factor in the wage loss claimed.

The court's reasoning in <u>City of Clermont</u> failed to take into consideration that individuals can have physical limitations, but those physical limitations may not be the reason why they cannot find a job, thereby denying the employer the opportunity to prove that the

only reason the employee was not working was because of economic conditions. The language in the 1983 statute simply stated that "the unavailability to find a job because of economic conditions could not be due only to economic conditions or unavailability of employment but must also be related to the physical limitations of the employee." The physical limitation had to be the reason the employee was not working, not the fact that no job was available. The result of that decision was to allow benefits, even where the employee voluntarily quit his job due to reasons unrelated to injury. Tampa General Hospital v. Lawson, 547 So.2d 260 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989); Johnson v. Super Food Services, 461 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984)(where the employee stole from the employer and was fired).

The court seemed to construe wage loss to mean if you had a job, were injured and suffered some physical limitation in accordance with the AMA Guides, and could not find a job because of an economic slow down, rather than because of the limiting restrictions, that not only were you entitled to wage loss benefits, but that to interpret the law to state that economic conditions and unavailability of employment alone will not result in wage loss benefits constitutionally impaired the wage loss enactment. The language of **Regency Inn** seems to be the concept of unemployment compensation and not workers' compensation.

The First District in its <u>Regency Inn</u> and <u>City of Clermont</u> rulings never grasped the concept of wage loss. Wage loss benefits are paid to those individuals who are unable to work due to their injury and their physical limitations. An individual with physical limitations may not be able to find a job in a period in which there is no economic condition keeping the employee from finding a job, but that employee still has the burden proving that the

wage loss is a result of the injury and the physical limitations and not because of the economic conditions surrounding whether or not there is a recession.

The First District in City of Clermont, supra, also stated as follows:

We have not overlooked the contentions that our decisions will drastically affect workers' compensation insurance rates. Whether these fears are founded or unfounded, we are not prepared to say. Our decision is based upon what we consider to be legal not actual considerations. We are concerned however, that those arguing for the appellants have raised the specter of hundreds, perhaps thousands of minimally impaired employees receiving full wage loss benefits over the years even to the maximum of (approximately) 10 years provided by law because of our decision. This and other arguments in similar vein only serve to emphasize in our opinion, the survival of the attitude to adversalness instead of cooperation that in the past has characterized the administration of the workers' compensation law.

In a footnote, the court went on to state:

We find very little of value in such arguments. It can just as well be presumed that for the most part, the "minimally impaired" employee will be rehired in the same job by the same employer; and we may also assume that in many instances even the severely injured worker will be rehired with or without prior rehabilitation by the same or other employer at wages equal to his preinjury earnings, thus drawing little or no benefits from the workers' compensation system after reaching maximum medical improvement.

Exactly what the court disdained has happened. In 1981, there were 4,618 wage loss cases and in 1988, there were 12,897 wage loss cases (both temporary partial wage loss and wage loss). This represents a substantial increase in claims. (A-16, pp. 2 and 3). An

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