IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BOB MARTINEZ, et al.,

Appellants/Cross-Appellees,

CASE NO.: 77,179

SIN J WHITE

FYB 1 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By Deputy Clerk

vs.

MARK SCANLAN, et al.,

Appellees/Cross-Appellants.

ANSWER BRIEF OF TAMPA BAY AREA NFL, INC. AND SOUTH FLORIDA SPORTS CORPORATION

Dated this 8th day of February, 1991.

H. LEE MOFFITT (#108621)

MARK HERRON (#199737)

KIRBY C. RAINSBERGER (#651540)

CHRISTOPHER R. HAUGHEE (#242985)

ACKERMAN, SENTERFITT, EIDSON & MOFFITT

Post Office Box 3273

Tampa, Florida 33601-3273

Telephone: (813) 223-7333

Attorneys for Tampa Bay Area NFL, Inc. and South Florida Sports Corporation

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ALBERT DARRYL DAVIS lacks standing to bring a declaratory judgment action challenging the constitutionality of Florida Statute § 440.09(7)(1989). DAVIS was added as a plaintiff to an existing lawsuit as an afterthought. He has established no right to workers' compensation benefits. He has filed no claim for wage loss benefits as required by the Implementation Agreement. His employer has denied him no benefits. DAVIS is, in any event, obligated to arbitrate all issues associated with his entitlement to workers'

compensation benefits. While it may be argued that he need not arbitrate constitutional claims, it is clear that his entitlement to workers' compensation benefits must be established before he has any right or standing to challenge the constitutionality of a statute providing for a setoff against such benefits.

Standing is a factual issue for the trial court judge, reviewable only if unsupported by competent, substantial evidence. In this case, all facts of record support the trial court's judgment that DAVIS lacks standing. It is the Plaintiff's burden to establish standing and to demonstrate the existence of a present controversy requiring resolution by the court in this action for declaratory judgment. DAVIS, having filed no claim for benefits and having established no right to benefits, has shown no present controversy and, accordingly, cannot invoke the jurisdiction of the trial court under Florida Statutes Chapter 86.

It is the plaintiff's burden to prove "beyond all reasonable doubt" that a challenged statute is unconstitutional. DAVIS has failed to carry this burden. Florida Statute § 440.09(7)(1989) does not impair any existing contract to which DAVIS is a party. The player contracts do not require the teams to provide workers' compensation to professional athletes. The Collective Bargaining Agreements ("CBAs") expired years ago although the Miami Dolphins continue to operate under the majority of the general terms of the latest CBA. DAVIS' right to workers' compensation benefits is based on the Implementation Agreement (also expired) which incorporates the Florida Workers' Compensation Law "as amended." Thus, by specific agreement, DAVIS has accepted the challenged amendment. In any event, the applicable documents do not require payment of workers' compensation benefits according to the law as of a fixed date. Rather, the entitlement to workers' compensation benefits exists according to the law in effect at the time of injury. Because DAVIS was injured after the effective date of Florida Statute § 440.09(7), the statute applies to him without impairing any contract rights he may have.

No substantive due process problem exists in application of the statute because a suitable substitute remains for any common law cause of action DAVIS may have had against the Miami Dolphins. DAVIS received his full contract wages until able to return to duty. All his medical expenses have been paid by the Miami Dolphins. Further, if DAVIS ever files a workers' compensation claim and establishes his entitlement to wage loss benefits, he will collect those benefits subject only to a setoff for wages he had already received during an applicable disability period pursuant to § 440.09(7).

Professional athletes, particularly football players, are a unique group which justifies the categorization resulting from application of § 440.09(7). This categorization need be supported only by some rational basis. As the statute applies equally to all professional athletes without regard to physical handicap, no heightened level of scrutiny is applicable. No equal protection violation has been demonstrated.

The statute violates no constitutional right of access to courts because a reasonable alternative to the previously existing common law cause of action remains. All employee medical expenses are paid by the employer. Wages continue to be paid by the employer during disability periods. Workers' compensation wage loss benefits would remain payable to the extent that the sum of wage payments made during disability periods is less than the *maximum* workers' compensation benefit provided by law.

Finally, no basis exists for the assertion that federal labor law has preempted the field of workers' compensation regulation. To the contrary, Florida courts dealing with challenges to the workers' compensation law based upon federal preemption have consistently concluded that workers' compensation issues are appropriate for state regulation.

For the foregoing reasons, this court should affirm the trial court's determination that cross appellant DAVIS lacks standing to bring this action for declaratory judgment

challenging the constitutionality of Florida Statute § 440.09(7)(1989). Alternatively, the constitutionality of the statute should be upheld.

ARGUMENT

I. DARRYL DAVIS LACKS STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF FLORIDA STATUTE § 440.09(7)(1989) IN THIS ACTION FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT.

Much of the initial brief of DARRYL DAVIS is devoted to the proposition that Florida Statute § 440.09(7)(1989) does not apply to the Miami Dolphins and its players. Obviously, if the statute does not apply to DAVIS he would have no standing to challenge its constitutionality. However, this court need not consider whether the statute applies to the Miami Dolphins or to DAVIS because that issue, among others, must be decided in arbitration rather than this Court pursuant to the Implementation Agreement. (Trial Exhibit 31).

Because Florida workers' compensation law specifically excludes professional athletes from coverage (§ 440.02(14)(c)(3), Fla. Stat. (1989)), DAVIS' entitlement to workers' compensation benefits must arise, if at all, from some contract with the Miami Dolphins. Because the collective bargaining agreements ("CBAs") have expired according to their terms, only DAVIS' player contract (Exhibit 32) and the Implementation Agreement (Exhibit 31) could be the basis of his claim for workers' compensation benefits. Of these, only the Implementation Agreement could be construed as requiring the Miami Dolphins to pay workers' compensation "equivalent benefits" to players such as DAVIS. This agreement, too, has expired by its terms but is currently being voluntarily observed by the Miami Dolphins.

The Implementation Agreement's primary purpose is to establish an arbitration procedure to resolve all disputes between players and the team concerning workers' compensation. Plaintiffs STANFILL and ORTEGA obtained awards of benefits through this system. DAVIS, however, has never submitted any claim for benefits and never participated in any arbitration of his alleged entitlement to benefits. Further, he did not participate in any arbitration on the issue of whether the statute applied to the Miami Dolphins or to him. Rather, contrary to the Implementation Agreement, DAVIS presented that issue for the very first time to a circuit court in Leon County. Even then, he did so in the context of a suit that only included the Miami Dolphins because the Dolphins chose to intervene.

The Agreement to arbitrate is enforceable pursuant to Florida Statutes Chapter 682. The failure of DAVIS to first arbitrate to establish his entitlement to workers' compensation benefits deprives him of standing. In addition, because the trial court, and this court, must defer to the agreed upon arbitration procedure to first establish whether § 440.09(7) even applies to DAVIS, he lacks standing to bring this action, there is no present controversy, and the trial court lacked jurisdiction to enter any declaratory judgment.

More specifically, the issue of standing is a question of fact for the trial court. Miller v. Publicker Industries. Inc., 457 So. 2d 1374, 1375 (Fla. 1984). The constitutionality of a statute may be challenged only by plaintiffs demonstrating that enforcement of the statute will "injuriously affect the plaintiff's personal or property rights." Id. "One may only challenge the constitutionality of a public law when that law directly affects him." Tribune Co. v. Huffstetler, 489 So. 2d 722, 724 (Fla. 1986) (and cases cited therein).

The trial court considered the evidence and concluded that DAVIS had failed to show his personal or property rights would be injuriously affected because DAVIS failed to prove that the statute applied to him and failed to prove he was otherwise entitled to workers' compensation benefits. This factual determination is "clothed with a presumption of correctness" and not reviewable in this Court if supported by competent, substantial evidence. Markham v. Fogg, 458 So. 2d 1122, 1126 (Fla. 1984); Bradenburg Inv. Corp. v. Farrell Realty, 463 So. 2d 558 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). Inasmuch as the evidence of record in this case clearly supports the trial court's judgment, this Court must affirm the trial court's decision that DAVIS lacks standing to challenge the constitutionality of § 440.09(7).

Closely associated with the issue of standing in this case is the requirement that DAVIS demonstrate the existence of a present controversy and show that he is entitled to have that controversy resolved in order to invoke the circuit court's jurisdiction to enter a declaratory judgment under Florida Statutes Chapter 86. "It is settled law that a court will not entertain a suit to determine a declaration of rights for parties upon facts which have not arisen, upon matters which are contingent or rest in the future...." State ex rel Fla. Bank & Trust Co. v. White, 155 Fla. 191, 21 So. 2d 213, 215 (1944). "[T]he mere possibility of injury at some indeterminate time in the future does not supply standing under our Declaratory Judgment Act." Williams v. Howard, 329 So. 2d 277, 282 (Fla. 1976). "The Declaratory Judgment Act does not give courts jurisdiction to entertain declaratory judgment actions where the plaintiff is merely seeking an answer to satisfy his curiosity." Register v. Pierce, 530 So. 2d 990, 993 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 537 So. 2d 569 (Fla. 1988) (citation omitted).

Because DAVIS has not yet established any right to workers' compensation benefits, indeed, has not yet even made claim to such benefits, and has not established in arbitration that § 440.09(7) applies to him, he presently seeks a declaration "upon matters

which are contingent or rest in the future." Accordingly, the judgment of the trial court dismissing DAVIS' claims should be affirmed.

II. FLORIDA STATUTE § 440.09(7)(1989) IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

In the event this court reaches the merits of DAVIS' constitutional claims, DAVIS bears the burden of proving to this court that § 440.09(7) is unconstitutional. State v. Bussey, 462 So. 2d 1141, 1144 (Fla. 1985). A presumption of validity accompanies legislative enactments. Department of Business Regulation v. Smith, 471 So. 2d 138, 142 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) ("The presumption of constitutionality imposes a heavy burden of proof upon one attacking the validity of a statute...."). If a statute is capable of being construed in different ways, the court should accept that construction which comports with constitutional requirements. Firestone v. News-Press Publishing Co., Inc., 538 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 1989). Any doubt is to be resolved in favor of upholding the constitutionality of the challenged statute. Felts v. State, 537 So. 2d 995, 1000 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), approved, 549 So. 2d 1373 (Fla. 1989) ("Every reasonable doubt should be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of a legislative act, since the presumption of constitutionality continues until the contrary is proven beyond all reasonable doubt.").

Additionally, a fundamental rule of judicial restraint requires courts to decline to reach constitutional issues if a case can be disposed of on other grounds. Escambia County, Fla. v. McMillan, 446 U.S. 48, 104 S.Ct. 1577, 1579, 80 L.Ed.2d 36 (1984); State v. Tsavaris, 394 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981), receded from on other grounds, Dean v. State, 478 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 1985). Against this backdrop of judicial restraint and presumption of constitutionality, DAVIS asserts various theories challenging the constitutional validity of § 440.09(7)(1989).

A. FLORIDA STATUTE § 440.09(7)(1989) IMPAIRS NO EXISTING CONTRACT.

DAVIS alleges in his brief that § 440.09(7) violates the impairment of contracts provisions of both the United States and Florida constitutions. In order to be held unconstitutional, the statute must have the effect of changing the substantive rights of the parties to an existing contract. Manning v. Travelers Insurance Co., 250 So. 2d 872, 874 (Fla. 1971); Tri-Properties. Inc. v. Moonspinner Condo. Ass'n, Inc., 447 So. 2d 965, 967 n.2 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 455 So. 2d 1033 (Fla. 1984).

DAVIS relies heavily on this Court's decision in <u>Pomponio v. Claridge of Pompano Condo.</u>, Inc., 378 So. 2d 774 (Fla. 1979). However, in listing the factors to be considered by the court in determining whether a statute impermissibly impairs an existing contract, DAVIS overlooked the threshold consideration identified in the <u>Pomponio case</u>: "In applying these principles to the present case, the first inquiry must be whether the state law has, in fact, operated as a substantial impairment of a contractual relationship." <u>Id.</u> at 779 (quoting <u>Allied Structural Steel Co. v. Spannaus</u>, 438 U.S. 234, 98 S.Ct. 2716 (1978)).

The contract at issue is the Implementation Agreement (Exhibit 31). Ignoring the fact that the implementation agreement expired by its own terms in 1988, paragraph 2 of the agreement provides as follows:

2. The workers' compensation rights and benefits to which Miami Dolphin players are entitled are the same as those set forth for other employees in the Florida Workers' Compensation Law, as amended, and as interpreted in the Florida Courts except as modified by this Agreement and the 1977 and 1982 CBAs. It is the intent of the parties to avoid litigation of workers' compensation claims by routinely resolving any issue or disputes which may arise between the servicing agent and the player through a fair and reasonable application of the Florida Workers' Compensation Law. (emphasis added)

Clearly, what the parties to this agreement anticipated was that the law would be changed from time to time and those changes were to be adopted by reference into this agreement.

Accordingly, no statutory change of workers' compensation law could impair DAVIS' contract rights because the contract under which he claims entitlement to workers' compensation benefits specifically incorporates the Florida workers' compensation law "as amended."

This result is supported by Florida case law. See, e.g., Angora Enterprises, Inc. v. Cole, 439 So. 2d 832, 834 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 466 U.S. 927, 104 S.Ct. 1710, 80 L.Ed.2d 183 (1984); Century Village, Inc. v. Wellington, etc., 361 So. 2d 128, 132 (Fla. 1978); A-One Coin Laundry Equip. Co. v. Waterside Towers Condo. Ass'n. Inc., 561 So. 2d 590, 593 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); Kosow v. Condo. Ass'n of Lakeside Village, Inc., 512 So. 2d 349 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), rev. denied, 520 So. 2d 584 (Fla. 1988); Coral Isle East Condo. v. Snyder, 395 So. 2d 1204 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). These cases unequivocally hold that where a contract incorporates certain statutes as amended, subsequent amendments to the referenced statute do not impair the obligation of contract and become part of the contract. Accordingly, DAVIS' claim to workers' compensation benefits is subject to the law in effect as of the date of injury. See also, St. Vincent DePaul Society v. Smith, 431 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (applying the general rule that workers' compensation rights are fixed according to the law in effect as of the date of injury).

B. FLORIDA STATUTE § 440.09(7)(1989) DOES NOT VIOLATE CONSTITUTIONAL DUE PROCESS REQUIREMENTS.

DAVIS argues in his initial brief that § 440.09(7) effectively "makes paragraph 10 of the NFL player contract unlawful." DAVIS fails, however to explain why this result violates due process or to provide authority for his conclusion. Actually, the statute and paragraph 10 of the player contract are not wholly inconsistent. Paragraph 10 of the contract provides for a setoff against workers' compensation benefits at least for the period of time during which a player is disabled. (This provision itself could easily be interpreted

to provide the dollar for dollar setoff specified by the statute.) Section 440.09(7) merely extends (or codifies) the setoff provided by paragraph 10 of the player contract to provide for a setoff in the amount paid during the disability period. The setoff specified in paragraph 10 (by either interpretation) is simply subsumed in the setoff provided by § 440.09(7).

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